Uldaho Law

Digital Commons @ Uldaho Law

Not Reported

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

1-8-2021

State v. Frakes Appellant's Brief Dckt. 48287

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Nature of the Case

Eleasar Frakes appeals from the district court's order denying his motion for credit for time served. Mr. Frakes moved for credit for his time in custody when he should have been served a bench warrant by the Ada County Sheriff's Office, but the Ada County Sheriff's Office chose not to. Instead, the Ada County Sheriff's Office waited over one and one-half years, until Mr. Frakes was placed on probation in a different case, to serve the outstanding warrant. In denying Mr. Frakes's motion, the district court stated it would have ordered credit for that time if it had "the discretion to make things more fair." Although Mr. Frakes is mindful that the statute on credit for time served requires service of the warrant, he submits that the facts of this case support an order of credit for his time in custody when he should have been served with the warrant.

Statement of Facts and Course of Proceedings

In May 2017, Mr. Frakes pled guilty to possession of a controlled substance. (R., pp.29–31.) In July 2017, the district court sentenced him to five years, with two years fixed, but suspended execution of the sentence and placed him on probation for three years. (R., pp.56–58.)

Less than two months later, on September 7, 2017, the State petitioned for a probation violation. (R., pp.65–66.) The district court issued a bench warrant, and it was served on Mr. Frakes on September 29, 2017. (R., pp.74–77.) Mr. Frakes was in custody until October 13, 2017, when he was released on his own recognizance. (R., p.82.) In December 2017, Mr. Frakes admitted to violating his probation. (R., p.83.)

On January 29, 2018, Mr. Frakes failed to appear at the probation violation disposition hearing, and the district court issued another bench warrant (“the January 2018 warrant”). (R., pp.86, 87–88.)

Over one and one-half years later, on July 23, 2019, the district court entered an order to transport Mr. Frakes from a prison facility to the custody of the Canyon County Sheriff’s Office for the pending disposition hearing. (R., p.89.) At the hearing, held in August 2019, Mr. Frakes was not present because he had been transferred to another prison facility for a period of retained jurisdiction in a different case out of Ada County. (R., p.91.) About a month later, in September 2019, the district court held a status hearing, with Mr. Frakes present telephonically, and set another hearing for disposition. (R., p.94.)

In October 2019, Mr. Frakes filed a written consent to a telephonic appearance for the upcoming disposition hearing. (R., pp.95–96.) In this consent form, Mr. Frakes stated that he had never been served with the January 2018 warrant. (R., p.95.) Mr. Frakes explained that he was arrested back on July 21, 2018, for the Ada County case and had remained incarcerated since then. (R., pp.95–96.) He stated that he was currently participating in the retained jurisdiction program for the Ada County case and, as such, the prison would not allow his transport for the disposition hearing. (R., pp.95–96.) He consented to a telephonic hearing on the disposition. (R., p.96.) The district court held a hearing on November 6, 2019, but neither Mr. Frakes nor his counsel was present in person or telephonically. (R., p.100.)

About three months later, on February 4, 2020, the January 2018 warrant was re-filed with a return of service for February 3, 2020. (R., pp.101–02.) On February 12, 2020, the district court held the disposition hearing and reinstated Mr. Frakes on probation. (R., pp.104–05, 106–07.) The district court ordered the sentence to run concurrently with the sentence in the Ada

County case. (R., p.106.) The district court gave Mr. Frakes ninety-four days of credit for time served. (R., p.106.) This included eighty-four days of prejudgment incarceration before the issuance of the January 2018 warrant and ten days from the service of the warrant to disposition (February 3 to February 12, 2020). (R., p.123.)

In August 2020, Mr. Frakes filed a motion for credit for time served. (R., pp.122–24.) He argued that he was entitled to credit for time served starting from when the Ada County Sheriff’s Office should have served the January 2018 bench warrant on him, but chose not to. (R., pp.123–24.) He explained that he was arrested on the Ada County case on July 21, 2018, and the Ada County Sheriff’s Office should have served the warrant on him the next day, July 22. (R., pp.123–24.) Instead, the Ada County Sheriff’s Office waited 561 days and did not serve the warrant on him until he completed his period of retained jurisdiction in the Ada County case and was placed on probation. (R., p.123.) He contended that the Ada County Sheriff’s Office knew about the January 2018 bench warrant, yet “willful[ly] fail[ed]” to serve it. (R., p.124.) He argued this was “unjust.” (R., p.123.) Thus, he moved for the district court to order an additional 561 days of credit for time served (from July 22, 2018, to February 3, 2020), for a total of 665 days (561 days plus 94 days). (R., p.124.)

The district court held a hearing on the motion. (R., p.127.) Mr. Frakes again argued that he was entitled to credit for time served from when the Ada County Sheriff’s Office should have served the January 2018 warrant on him. (Tr., p.16, L.24–p.19, L.18.) He stated:

He sat there for months and months. The Ada County jail didn’t serve the warrant upon him. There’s nothing to indicate they couldn’t have. And we’re not talking about a far flung place where it might be difficult to discover. We’re talking about one county over, and these types of warrants are issued and served all the time.

(Tr., p.17, Ls.16–22.) The State did not dispute Mr. Frakes’s assertion that the Ada County Sheriff’s Office knowingly did not serve the January 2018 bench warrant. (Tr., p.19, L.21–p.20,

L.6.) Rather, the State submitted:

Judge, you know, I don’t really have much of an argument on this. I saw the motion, and I don’t think there’s any case law that I’m aware of that directly addresses this sort of situation.

And, frankly, I’m going to submit it to the wisdom of the court. You know, I don’t feel like I have a huge dog in this fight. And I’m going to just submit to your wisdom and knowledge about how this has happened before because I don’t have any experience on it myself. So, I’ll just submit on that, Judge, unless you have specific questions.

(Tr., p.19, L.21–p.20, L.6.) The district court confirmed with Mr. Frakes that his position was “more of a fairness argument.” (Tr., p.20, Ls.13–15.) Then, the district court denied the motion.

The district court explained:

[I]t’s denied because I don’t think I have the authority to give him that credit in this case because the warrant was not, in fact, served. I can’t make the Ada County Sheriff’s Office serve the warrant on him. You know, even if you had filed a motion right away saying, hey, he’s not getting credit over here, I just don’t believe I have the authority to make them do that. . . . You have a good argument, . . . but I just don’t think I have the authority under Rule 35(c) to do what you’re asking. So for that reason the motion is denied.

(Tr., p.21, Ls.1–13.) The district court also stated, “[I]f I had the discretion to make things more fair, I would do that. It’s just under the mechanisms that we have in this particular case I don’t have that.” (Tr., p.22, Ls.17–18.)

Shortly after the hearing, the district court entered an order denying Mr. Frakes’s motion for credit for time served the reasons stated on the record at the hearing. (R., p.128.) Mr. Frakes timely appealed. (R., pp.130–32.)

ISSUE

Did the district court err when it denied Mr. Frakes's motion for credit for time served?

ARGUMENT

The District Court Erred When It Denied Mr. Frakes's Motion For Credit For Time Served

A. Introduction

Mr. Frakes argues that he is entitled to credit for time served for his period of incarceration when the Ada County Sheriff's Office should have, but chose not to, serve the outstanding January 2018 warrant. Although Mr. Frakes is mindful of the relevant statute's requirement of service of the warrant, he submits that the facts of this case support of an order of credit for his time in custody when he should have been served the warrant.

B. Standard Of Review

"The question of whether a sentencing court has properly awarded credit for time served to the facts of a particular case is a question of law, which is subject to free review by the appellate courts." *State v. Barrett*, 163 Idaho 449, 451 (2018) (quoting *State v. Taylor*, 160 Idaho 381, 384–85 (2016)).

C. The Facts Of This Case Support An Order Of Credit For Time Served To Mr. Frakes For His Time In Custody When He Should Have Been Served The Outstanding January 2018 Bench Warrant, But The Ada County Sheriff's Office Failed To Do So

Idaho Code § 19-2603 governs credit for time served upon revocation of probation. It states in relevant part:

The defendant shall receive credit for time served *from the date of service of a bench warrant* issued by the court after a finding of probable cause to believe the defendant has violated a condition of probation, for any time served following an arrest of the defendant pursuant to [I.C. § 20-227¹], and for any time served as a condition of probation under the withheld judgment or suspended sentence.

¹ I.C. § 20-227 governs the arrest of a probationer with an agent's warrant.

I.C. § 19-2603 (emphasis added). “Under the plain terms of I.C. § 19-2603, a defendant is entitled to credit for time served from service of a bench warrant for a probation violation.” *State v. Bitkoff*, 157 Idaho 410, 413 (Ct. App. 2014).

Although Mr. Frakes acknowledges that he was not served with the bench warrant until February 3, 2020, he nonetheless requests credit for his time in custody after his arrest in the Ada County case in July 2018. As asserted by his counsel below, and undisputed by the State, the only reason that Mr. Frakes did not receive credit for this time was due to Ada County Sheriff’s Office “willful failure” to serve the outstanding January 2018 bench warrant. (R., p.124; *see* Tr., p.19, L.21–p.20, L.6 (State’s position).) His counsel argued:

It was indisputably unjust for the Ada County Sheriff to choose not to serve the January . . . 2018 Bench Warrant issued in this matter upon Defendant once he came into the Sheriff’s custody on July 21, 2018. Additionally, it is impossible to argue that the Ada County Sheriff did not [k]now about the Bench Warrant nor that they could have discovered the existence of the Bench Warrant. Reasonably speaking, they could have—and should have—served the Bench Warrant in this matter upon [Mr. Frakes] on July 22, 2018.

(R., pp.123–24.) Instead, the Ada County Sheriff’s Office waited to serve the bench warrant until Mr. Frakes was placed on probation in the Ada County case—561 days after his arrest. (R., pp.123–24.) Thus, despite the initial lack of service, Mr. Frakes argues, as he did below, that he is entitled to credit for this time as a matter of fairness. (R., pp.123–24; Tr., p.16, L.24–p.19, L.18, p.20, Ls.7–23.)

To this end, as a matter of fairness, Mr. Frakes submits that law enforcement’s failure to serve an outstanding warrant to avoid the accrual of credit contravenes the purpose of the credit for time served statutes. Chief Justice Burdick, in dissent in *State v. Barrett*, 163 Idaho 443 (2018), emphasized this concern upon the majority’s holding that a “Hold Notice Request” was not a legal basis of incarceration and therefore the defendant was not entitled to credit for that

time in custody upon its service. *Id.* at 452–54 (majority opinion); *id.* at 454–55 (Burdick, C.J., concurring in part and dissenting in part). Chief Justice Burdick explained:

[T]he use of the Hold Notice Request to deprive a defendant of credit for time served fails to abide by the spirit of [I.C. §] 18-309.² The approach condoned by the majority would allow the State to systemically deprive defendants of credit for time served when incarcerated for multiple offenses—the exact issue this Court sought to remedy through our holdings in *Owens*³ and *Brand*.⁴ Under the majority’s approach, the State is allowed to serve a Hold Notice Request on an incarcerated defendant, subsequently wait for the defendant’s initial appearance on the new charges—in this case, a time period of forty-seven days—and then serve the arrest warrant. This process functions to deprive the defendant of credit for time served from the date the Hold Notice Request is issued until the date of the initial appearance. I believe [I.C. §] 18-309, *Owens*, and *Brand* foreclose any argument this procedure should be allowed.

Id. at 455 (Burdick, C.J., concurring in part and dissenting in part). Although Chief Justice Burdick was discussing the credit for time served statute for prejudgment incarceration, the same “process” to “deprive the defendant of credit” has come to fruition here in a post-judgment case. *Id.* Law enforcement was able to wait to serve the outstanding warrant on Mr. Frakes until the day of his release from custody in another case, thus depriving him of 561 days of credit for time served. Thus, while Mr. Frakes acknowledges that I.C. § 19-2603’s plain language does not mandate credit for time served, he nonetheless asserts that he is entitled to credit “to abide by the spirit” of the statute. *Id.*

² This statute governs credit for time served for prejudgment incarceration.

³ *State v. Owens* held that a defendant is entitled to credit for time served on each offense, even if the sentences are to be served consecutively. 158 Idaho 1, 4–5 (2015).

⁴ *State v. Brand* held that a defendant is entitled to credit for time served on each offense that provides a basis for the defendant’s incarceration, even if the defendant is already incarcerated on unrelated charges. 162 Idaho 189, 192–93 (2017).

CONCLUSION

Mr. Frakes respectfully requests that this Court reverse the district court's order denying his motion for credit for time served and remand this case with instructions to the district court to enter an order giving Mr. Frakes 665 days of credit for time served. Alternatively, he respectfully requests that this Court vacate the district court's order denying his motion for credit for time served and remand this case for further proceedings.