Uldaho Law

Digital Commons @ Uldaho Law

Not Reported

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

4-1-2021

State v. Frakes Respondent's Brief Dckt. 48287

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Nature Of The Case

Eleasar Pedrosa Frakes appeals from the district court's denial of his Rule 35 motion seeking credit for time served.

Statement Of The Facts And Course Of The Proceedings

In May 2017, Frakes pleaded guilty to possession of methamphetamine. (R., pp.25-26, 29-31.) The Canyon County district court sentenced Frakes to five years, with two years fixed, and placed him on probation. (R., pp.56-57.)

On September 7, 2017, the state filed a petition for probation violation, alleging Frakes violated the terms and conditions of his probation in a variety of ways. (R., pp.65-70.) Frakes admitted to violating his probation and the court set a disposition hearing on January 8, 2018. (R., p.83.) After the disposition hearing was continued to January 29, 2018, Frakes failed to appear. (R., pp.84-86.) The court issued a bench warrant for his arrest. (R., p.87.)

On July 21, 2018, Frakes was arrested for committing a new crime in Ada County, where he stayed, incarcerated, until May 6, 2019. (R., pp.95-96.) On May 6, Frakes was sentenced in the Ada County case and the court retained jurisdiction. (R., p.96.)

Following the period of retained jurisdiction, on February 3, 2020, the Ada County court placed Frakes on probation. (See R., p.123.) That same day, the bench warrant in this case, which had previously issued on January 29, 2019, was served on Frakes. (R., p.102.)

On February 12, 2020, the district court in this case reinstated Frakes on probation, granting 94 days of credit for the "84 days served prior to January 29, 2018 and 10 days served from February 3, 2020 to February 12, 2020." (R., pp.106-07, 123.)

Frakes subsequently filed a Rule 35 motion for credit for time served. (R., pp.109-12, 122-25.) In it, he sought additional credit for the 561 days he was incarcerated in Ada County after the bench warrant issued, but *before* it was served:

It was indisputably unjust for the Ada County Sheriff to choose not to serve the January 29, 2018 Bench Warrant issued in this matter upon Defendant once he came into the Sheriff's custody on July 21, 2018. Additionally, it is impossible to argue that the Ada County Sheriff did not know about the Bench Warrant nor that they could not have discovered the existence of the Bench Warrant. Reasonably speaking, they could have—and should have—served the Bench Warrant in this matter upon Defendant on July 22, 2018.

(R., p.111.)

The district court denied Frakes's motion after concluding that it could not grant credit for time predating the service of the bench warrant:

[F]irst of all, let me say the motion is denied. And it's denied because I don't think I have the authority to give him that credit in this case because the warrant was not, in fact, served. I can't make the Ada County Sheriff's Office serve the warrant on him. You know, even if you had filed a motion right away saying, hey, he's not getting credit over here, I just don't believe I have the authority to make them do that....

So, you know, those—I try to make—within the confines where the legislature gives me discretion and the statute or the Supreme Court gives me discretion in the rule, I do try to consider that and make the judgment fair. But in this particular case on this motion under [Rule] 35(c) I don't think I have that discretion.

(Tr., p.20, L.25 – p.22, L.11; R, p.128.)

Frakes timely appealed. (R., pp.130-33.)

ISSUE

Frakes states the issue on appeal as:

Did the district court err when it denied Mr. Frakes's motion for credit for time served?

(Appellant's brief, p.5.)

The state rephrases the issue as:

Has Frakes failed to show the district court erred by calculating credit for time served based on the date the bench warrant was served, as the statute requires?

ARGUMENT

Frakes Fails To Show The District Court Erred By Calculating Credit For Time Served Based On The Date The Bench Warrant Was Served, As The Statute Requires

Frakes argues the district court erred by not granting him 561 days “credit for time served for his period of incarceration when the Ada County Sheriff’s Office” did not “serve the outstanding January 2018 warrant.” (Appellant’s brief, pp.6, 8.) But Frakes, in effect, concedes that he is not entitled to credit under the plain application of the controlling statute. He makes his argument “mindful of the relevant statute’s requirement of service of the warrant” (Appellant’s brief, p.6), which goes as follows:

The defendant shall receive credit for time served *from the date of service of a bench warrant* issued by the court after a finding of probable cause to believe the defendant has violated a condition of probation, for any time served following an arrest of the defendant pursuant to section 20-227, Idaho Code, and for any time served as a condition of probation under the withheld judgment or suspended sentence.

I.C. § 19-2603 (emphasis added).

The application of Section 19-2603 here is straightforward. The bench warrant was served on February 3, 2020 (R., p.102), which means Frakes was only entitled to credit from that date. The district court, bound by the statute, therefore correctly concluded it did not have authority to grant credit for the 561 days prior to that, “because the warrant was not, in fact, served.” (Tr., p.20, L.24 – p.21, L.3.) Frakes fails to show any error.

Despite the plain statutory language foreclosing his claim, Frakes contends he should still be “entitled to credit for this time as a matter of fairness,” or as otherwise called for by the “spirit” of the statute. (Appellant’s brief, pp.7-8.) He cites no controlling authority, however, that has construed the statute this way. (*See* Appellant’s brief.) Frakes simply cites a dissent

from State v. Barrett, 163 Idaho 449, 455, 414 P.3d 1188, 1194 (2018), which, along similar lines as Frakes, disfavored the majority’s interpretation of Section 18-309. (“Under the majority’s approach, the State is allowed to serve a Hold Notice Request on an incarcerated defendant, subsequently wait for the defendant’s initial appearance on the new charges—in this case, a time period of forty-seven days—and then serve the arrest warrant.”) The majority in Barrett, on the other hand, concluded the district court in that case correctly calculated credit for time served from “the date the arrest warrant was served.” Id. at 451, 454, 414 P.3d at 1190, 1193. Frakes therefore fails to show that, under the controlling statute or under Barrett, the outcome here would be any different.

Even if Frakes’s “matter of fairness” approach was the correct legal standard, he fails to show it would apply here. He claims that the purported “facts of this case” justify contravening the plain text of the statute; specifically, Frakes alleges “the only reason that [he] did not receive credit for this time was due to [the] Ada County Sheriff’s Office[’]s ‘willful failure’ to serve the outstanding January 2018 bench warrant.” (Appellant’s brief, pp.1, 6 (quoting R., p.124).)

But even assuming such a “willful failure” could ever justify ignoring the statute, Frakes fails to show that is what happened here. The district court made no factual findings as to why the warrant was not served. (See Tr., pp. 16-23.) Nothing in this record explains why the warrant wasn’t served, much less shows the delay was intentional or knowing. (See R.) Frakes assumes on appeal that the Ada County Sheriff’s Office “chose not to” serve the warrant, and that it “knowingly did not serve the warrant,” but that is pure speculation. (Appellant’s brief, pp.1, 4.) Even Frakes admitted this point below, refuting his own claim about the “indisputably unjust” delay with a more accurate concession: “it is important to keep in mind that there may be

some reasonable explanations for a delay in serving a Bench Warrant on a Defendant.” (R., p.111.)

Thus, even assuming a district court *could* rewrite or otherwise ignore the statute based on a knowing or intentional delay (which the state disputes), Frakes has failed to assemble a record on appeal showing such a delay. Under the plain language of Section 19-2603, Frakes is not entitled to credit for time served prior to the service of the arrest warrant. The district court properly applied the statute and denied the motion, and Frakes fails to show any error.

CONCLUSION

The state respectfully requests this Court affirm the district court’s denial of Frakes’s Rule 35 motion.